
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: May 10, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 1 of 10 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
The Workshop Meeting of the West Milford Township Council was called to order by Mayor 
Joseph DiDonato. 
 
Adequate Notice Statement 
Mayor DiDonato read the following statement: 
Please note that in accordance with Chapter 231, Public Laws of 1975 of New Jersey, adequate 
advance notice of this Regular meeting was advertised in the Herald News in its issues of 
December 26, 2005 and January 8, 2006; copies were provided to the Suburban Trends, the 
Record, Star Ledger, and Greenwood Lake News and posted continuously on the bulletin board 
in the main corridor of the Town Hall and on file in the Office of the Township Clerk. 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Mayor DiDonato led all in attendance in a salute to the flag. 
 
Roll Call 
 
Present:  Councilmembers Philip Weisbecker, Joseph Smolinski, William Gervens,   

Robert Nolan, James Warden (arrived @ 8:35 p.m.), Carmelo Scangarello. 
Absent:  None. 
Also Present:   Township Administrator Richard Kunze, Township Clerk Antoinette Battaglia, 

Township Attorney Frederick Semrau  
 
Reading of or Approval of Unapproved Minutes 
 
Councilman Weisbecker moved to adopt the minutes of the April 26, 2006 Workshop Meeting as 
presented.  Motion seconded by Council President Gervens. 
Discussion: Councilman Nolan asked that the word �not� on page 2 under the comments made by 
Bill Remia be changed to �now�.  The Council concurred. 
Councilman Weisbecker amended his motion to have the minutes changed as discussed. 
Moved:   Weisbecker                          Seconded:  Gervens 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Abstained:  None. 
Councilman Warden had not arrived at the meeting as yet. 
Motion carried. 
 
Meetings 
 
Mayor DiDonato noted the future meeting schedule: 
 

May 16, 2006 Special Budget Meeting (may also discuss School Budget) 
May 24, 2006 Regular Meeting 
June 10, 2006 Special Joint Meeting with Board of Education at 9:00 a.m. 
June 14, 2006 Workshop Meeting 
June 28, 2006 Regular Meeting 

 
Administrator Kunze advised that the May 16th meeting will focus on the school budget and that 
the recently hired consultant will attend.  The consultant�s report is expected to be distributed to 
Council on Friday.  He noted that the Council may wish to schedule a meeting for the 17th or 18th 
to meet with the school board, conduct a public hearing on the school budget, and adopt the 
required resolution before the 19th.  The Council advised of their availability and will confirm dates 
with the Administrator tomorrow.  Administrator Kunze asked the Council to consider postponing 
the June 10th joint meeting with the Board of Education.  He advised that staff is still working on 
cost estimates for Hillcrest.  Asbestos abatement is the biggest issue and there are no existing 
estimates for this work.  Council agreed to the postponement and asked the Administrator to 
broach the subject again at the next meeting.   
 
Proclamations 
 
None. 
 
Public Comments 
 
Mayor DiDonato opened the meeting to the public after advising that there is a five-minute limit for each 
speaker.  He invited interested parties to raise their hand and come forward when called upon.   
 

id28653521 pdfMachine by Broadgun Software  - a great PDF writer!  - a great PDF creator! - http://www.pdfmachine.com  http://www.broadgun.com 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: May 10, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 2 of 10 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Eric Hastings, Greenwood Lake Turnpike, West Milford asked the Council to consider holding off on 
making any decisions about the Wallisch property.  He stated that the Township should first develop an 
energy policy for the town and that this property will have an impact on such an energy policy.  He 
advised that the Wallisch property has utility rights of way.  He also noted that the Council should have 
the planner and an energy expert advise them on this matter.   
 
Martin O�Shea, 22 Greenbrook Drive, West Milford stated that he spent time today reviewing the bill list 
that the Council will be acting on later tonight.  There is a $5,000 deposit for fireworks display as well as 
a letter from Garden State Fireworks addressed to Mr. Scangarello responding to a request for 
proposals.  He noted that there were two purchases but one purchase order number.  They were 
received in the Township on April 24th but were dated April 11th.  The Administrator and the Chief 
Financial Officer signed them on April 18.  Joanne Donohue�s signature is on both and Renee 
Palermo�s is on one.  He read the certification statement which says that the goods have been received 
in good condition.  Clearly, these goods had not been received before the purchase orders were 
signed. 
 
George Ferno, Greenwood Lake Bi-State Commission Commissioner stated that the weed harvesting is 
proceeding and the operator is taking 8-9 loads of weeds out of the lake daily.  There is, however, a 
problem with the contract.  Mr. Ferno stated that, when he first drafted the contract, the intent was that 
the operator of the weed harvester was to be a township employee and thus covered under the 
township�s insurance.  The certificate of insurance covers the weed harvester and operator.  However, 
the Commission is not covered for anything else.  He stated that the Commission is comprised of 
volunteers who, if they were found liable, stand to lose their personal belongings because of the lack of 
coverage.  The State refuses to assume that responsibility.  He stated that neither he nor the members 
of the Commission know what to do about this.  They perceive their options as being to resign from the 
Commission or cease the weed-harvesting program until this is resolved.  He asked the Council for 
direction. 
 
Jim Novack, 53 Larchmont Drive, Hewitt, stated that he has been in the fireworks business for over 25 
years and has worked for many towns.  Through OPRA he has discovered that the fireworks company 
was paid $10,000 last year before the show started and that they billed for 8� shells which they were not 
allowed to use.  He asked if we had received a refund.  He asked for an explanation of a petty cash 
refund to Renee Palermo and, noting that there was a bill for pizza, he asked who ate it.  He stated that 
the fireworks display ultimately cost the township over $13,000, yet Upper Greenwood Lake is being 
asked to pay for special police officers for their fireworks display which he considers to be a public 
event also.  He stated that, in his opinion, we should not pay employees to work at these events. 
 
Bob Pawlo, 7 Madelyn Avenue, West Milford, relayed some complements he had heard about the 
Township Clerk.  He noted that there may be problems with the petitions being circulated for the water 
surcharge because he has seen documents from years ago that require Newark to protect the water 
supply.  They subsequently purchased 16,000 acres in West Milford for that purpose.  He noted that 
there have always been complaints that Newark is reaping benefits from West Milford�s water and cited 
historic facts to refute these claims.  Some years ago Newark proposed to develop the land by building 
5,200 units on the site.  West Milford successfully fought this development in court citing the need to 
protect the water supply.   
 
Councilman Weisbecker moved to close the Public Comments portion of the meeting. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Weisbecker                          Seconded:  Scangarello 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Councilman Warden had not arrived at the meeting as yet. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Council Comments 
 
Members of the Council commented on the following matters: 
 
Mayor DiDonato stated that the Township�s professionals should address the references to the 
fireworks and the Bi-State Commission. 
 
Fred Semrau, Esq., Township Attorney, stated that the Council had authorized him a few weeks 
ago to obtain insurance coverage for the weed harvester vehicle and operator.  The Bi-State 
Commission was also to be named as an additional insured.  He received a verbal commitment 
from the insurance company that this would be done and was followed up in writing.  Activities 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: May 10, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 3 of 10 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
that do not relate to weed harvesting are a separate issue and may be beyond the scope of 
coverage provided by our insurance provider. 
 
Richard Kunze, Township Administrator, stated that the agreement entered into this year for the 
fireworks display is the same as last year.  The Township Attorney who had no issue with the 
50% deposit has reviewed it.  The certification on the purchase order is intended to indicate that it 
is okay to proceed.  He will look into last year�s bills and will report back to Council. Councilman 
Nolan stated that he does not believe that we should make deposits for goods or services.  Mr. 
Semrau advised that he will look into that; however, in his experience, it is not uncommon in the 
fireworks industry.  There is nothing to preclude us from making deposits though the language in 
the certification should be changed to allow for such incidents.  Councilman Nolan stated that the 
Council expects department heads to personally sign purchase orders for large expenditures.  
Administrator Kunze advised that this is generally the procedure except in rare instances when 
department heads are on vacation or not available.  Councilman Scangarello recalled that there 
was a refund from the fireworks company last year.  He advised that the original proposal had 
been sent to him because he met the vendor and the League of Municipalities last year, and, in 
accordance with the purpose of his trip, asked the vendor to submit a proposal.  He then 
forwarded the information on to the Recreation Director and the Township Administrator.  Mr. 
Semrau advised that the agreement allows the Township to reschedule the event within 90 days 
of the originally scheduled date in the event of rain.   
 
Councilman Smolinski stated that he does not perceive Newark as always being �the bad guy� 
but he will always put West Milford first. 
 
Presentations 
 
Gillian Hemstead, Environmental Commissioner came forward and advised that she is in 
attendance tonight to provide the Council with information about grants.  She noted that the 
Environmental Commission has a threefold plan in which the grants play an integral role.  The 
first phase is to collect data, the second phase is to create a plan, and the third phase is to 
implement the plan.  She stated that West Milford has been getting an ESP grant every year for 
ten years.  These grant funds have been used to map stormwater inlets and outlets.  In 2005, the 
Council referred citizen concerns about Belcher�s Creek to the health department.  Tests were 
conducted and it was found that the creek had high levels of coliform.  The Environmental 
Commission applied for and obtained a grant to test the water.  They then applied for a 604B 
grant which is a grant administered by the Federal Clean Water Act.  The funds will be used to 
identify the fecal coliform levels and allow for a plan to deal with these pollutants.  She noted that 
the Environmental Commission will be asking the Council to adopt a resolution approving 
Princeton Hydro do to this work.  She provided a brief overview of Princeton Hydro, their work in 
West Milford, and their expertise in this field.  At the end of the grant cycle, the results will be 
used to make recommendations as to how to handle the contaminated water.   
 
Another on-going grant project is the stormwater implementation for the Greenwood Lake 
watershed (319H grant).  This grant funds the development of a stormwater management plan.  
The previous phase was approved by the DEP and it addressed phosphorous runoff.  The next 
one concerns the implementation of the approved plan.  The application for this phase is due at 
the end of June.  She gave an overview of the plan which includes the installation of storm drains 
to filter out pollutants.  She stated that the Commission unanimously supports this grant 
application and asked for Council support. 
 
Noting that West Milford Lake is being decommissioned, the Environmental Commission is 
applying for an ANJEC grant.  This is a planning grant which would be used to develop a plan for 
wetlands area after decommissioning.  This will require public hearings and public input.  High 
levels of phosphorous were found at the base of the dam which flows into Belchers Creek.  
  
Councilman Nolan thanked Ms. Hemstead for her presentation and her enthusiasm.  He noted 
that, in the application for the ANJEC grant, there is a reference to delinquent property taxes and 
property maintenance issues.  He asked, if we don�t own the property, should we be doing this 
work?  Ms. Hemstead asked the GIS Specialist, Rob Sparkes, to address that subject.  Mr. 
Sparkes stated that this property was selected because it is located in the center of town and 
dovetails with the streetscape plans.  He advised that several members of the disbanded West 
Milford Lake Association attended a recent Environmental Commission meeting where they 
expressed pleasure at learning that the public will be invited to participate in the process.  The 
ANJEC grant is a starting point to begin a study to determine what, if anything, should be done in 
the future.  Councilman Smolinski commended the Environmental Commission for their hard work 
and noted that this grant does not commit the Township to anything.  Councilman Weisbecker 
asked who will maintain the filters, how often this must be done and how much it will cost.  Mr. 
Sparkes advised that the new filters have a vegetative base and get changed once or twice per 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: May 10, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 4 of 10 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
year.  While the town would have to maintain them, they prevent pollution in the lake.  He 
understands that, under current stormwater regulations, the DPW is already monitoring and 
cleaning out storm basins.  Princeton Hydro has looked at different filters and will make a 
recommendation.   
 
Councilman Warden arrived at the meeting. 
 
Councilman Weisbecker, noting that the State has decommissioned the dam and has assumed 
those costs, stated that it is the residents of that lake, not the Township, who are responsible for 
rebuilding the lake.  The Council instructed Mr. Sparkes to report back to them on the costs of 
maintenance and purchasing of the filters.   
 
Councilman Smolinski asked about the condition of Belchers Creek.  Mr. Sparkes advised that 
the grant does not focus on the source of the fecal coliform by block and lot; there are a lot of 
components to the grant.  The GIS work will be done in house; health department records will be 
digitized and the various conditions in that water shed will be categorized.  Contamination of 
water bodies from septic systems is a concern throughout northern New Jersey.  The 
Environmental Commission will be looking at various areas in the watershed; alternate systems 
for this region; and identifying sources of funding form implementation and public education. 
 
Action Items 
 
The Township Council took action on the following items: 
 

Agenda No. VIII 1 
 

~ Ordinance 2006-004 ~ 
 

ORDINANCE TO EXCEED THE MUNICIPAL BUDGET APPROPRIATION LIMITS 
AND TO ESTABLISH A CAP BANK (N.J.S.A. 40A: 4-45.14) 

 
WHEREAS, the Local Government Cap Law, N.J.S. 40A: 4-45.1 et seq., provides that in 

the preparation of its annual budget, a municipality shall limit any increase in said budget to 2.5% 
unless authorized by ordinance to increase it to 3.5%   over the previous year�s final 
appropriations, subject to certain exceptions; and, 
 

WHEREAS, N.J.S.A. 40A: 4-45.15a provides that a municipality may, when authorized 
by ordinance, appropriate the difference between the amount of its actual final appropriation and 
the 3.5% percentage rate as an exception to its final appropriations in either of the next two 
succeeding years; and,  
 

WHEREAS, the Township Council of the Township of West Milford in the County of 
Passaic finds it advisable and necessary to increase its CY 2006 budget by up to 3.5% over the 
previous year�s final appropriations, in the interest of promoting the health, safety and welfare of 
the citizens; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Council hereby determines that a 1.0% increase in the budget 
for said year, amounting to $168,142.29 in excess of the increase in final appropriations 
otherwise permitted by the Local Government Cap Law, is advisable and necessary; and, 
 

WHEREAS the Township Council hereby determines that any amount authorized 
hereinabove that is not appropriated as part of the final budget shall be retained as an exception 
to final appropriation in either of the next two succeeding years. 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the Township Council of the Township of 
West Milford, in the County of Passaic, a majority of the full authorized membership of this 
governing body affirmatively concurring, that, in the CY 2006 budget year, the final appropriations 
of the Township of West Milford shall, in accordance with this ordinance and N.J.S.A. 40A: 4-
45.14, be increased by 3.50%, amounting to $598,498.02, and that the CY 2006 municipal 
budget for the Township of West Milford be approved and adopted in accordance with this 
ordinance; and,  
 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that any that any amount authorized hereinabove that is 
not appropriated as part of the final budget shall be retained as an exception to final appropriation 
in either of the next two succeeding years; and, 
 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: May 10, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 5 of 10 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that a certified copy of this ordinance as introduced be 
filed with the Director of the Division of Local Government Services within 5 days of introduction; 
and,  
 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that a certified copy of this ordinance upon adoption, with 
the recorded vote included thereon, be filed with said Director within 5 days after such adoption. 
 
Discussion:  Noting that this ordinance is being introduced, Councilman Nolan asked the 
Administrator to explain the need for this ordinance.  Administrator Kunze advised that the State 
of New Jersey placed a 2.5% cap on certain categories of appropriations.  Municipalities are 
allowed to exceed that cap by 1% by adopting an ordinance.  The municipality is not required to 
spend up to that amount; anything not used would be put into a CAP bank for future years.  This 
ordinance must be introduced before the budget introduction. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Nolan                          Seconded:  Warden 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

Agenda No. VIII 2 
 

~ Resolution 2006-183 ~ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PAYMENT OF BILLS (AMENDED) 
 

WHEREAS, the Township Treasurer has submitted to the members of the Township 
Council a report listing individual disbursement checks prepared by his office in payment of 
amounts due by the Township. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Township Treasurer�s report of checks 
prepared by him be approved and issued as follows: 
  

Acct # Account Name Amount 

1 
Current Account. . . . . . . . . . . . 
Current Account as Amended 

 $             360,512.48 
$             355,512.48 

2 Reserve Account . . . . . . . . . . .         20,878.67 
3 Animal Control Trust 77.00               
6 Capital. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .         55,380.30 
7 Grants. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,456.03 
8 Refuse. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102,887.63 
9 Refunds. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .         102,147.15 
12 General Ledger. . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,779,645.56 
16 Heritage Trust. . . . . . . . . . . . . . 916.34   
14 Open Space Trust  
17 Trust . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .           47,078.33 
18 Development Escrow. . . . . . . . .  
19 LOSAP  
20 Special Reserve  

  
Total  $            4,472,979.49 

Less Refund Resolution (102,147.15) 
Actual Bill List 
Actual Bill List as Amended 

 $            4,370,832.34 
      $            4,365,832.34 

  
Other Payments 12,500.00 

Less Refund Resolution  
  
Total Expenditures 
Total Expenditures as Amended 

$           4,383,332.34 
$           4,378,332.34 

 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: May 10, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 6 of 10 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Adopted:  May 10, 2006 
 
Councilman Weisbecker made a motion to adopt this resolution as presented.  Councilman Nolan 
seconded the motion. 
 
Discussion:  Mr. Semrau stated that we would not be prejudiced if we pulled the fireworks deposit 
from the bill list (number 26876).  Councilman Nolan asked for clarification of the Polaris Galaxy 
insurance bill. 
 
Councilman Weisbecker amended his motion to amend this resolution to exclude the fireworks 
deposit from the bill list. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Weisbecker                          Seconded:  Nolan 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Motion carried as amended. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Items For Discussion 
 
The Township Council discussed the following items: 
1)  Possible Ordinance Monitoring Maintenance to Septic Systems � Mayor DiDonato noted 

that this item had been addressed in the presentation from the Environmental Commission.   
2) 2007 NJDOT Municipal Aid Program� Administrator Kunze advised we apply for this grant 

every year.  It provides funding for repaving of roads and this year the Engineer has 
recommended that we apply for $350,000 to continue repaving of Warwick Turnpike, 
Section 9 which is .44 miles.  The Council gave consensus to proceed. 

3) 2006 Passaic County Open Space Trust Fund Application � Administrator Kunze advised 
that the grant application is due at the end of June and he asked the Recreation Director 
and Township Engineer for recommendations when he met with them yesterday.  They 
discussed Farrell Field and Westbrook Park.  The Westbrook Park project would include 
skate park lighting, drainage improvements, filling in of the pool, repair the basketball area, 
etc. It would be an all-encompassing project.  The previous estimate was $420,000 which 
we would have to match.  Councilman Warden stated that repairing the fields at Farrell 
Field should be a priority because the problems are not going away.  Mr. Kunze noted that 
this would require further conversation with PAL because it would require taking the fields 
out of service to effectuate the repairs.  Mayor DiDonato instructed Mr. Kunze to prepare a 
scope of the project for Farrell Field with an estimate of the costs.  Mr. Kunze will draft 
something and noted that the grant application requires a public hearing on the proposed 
project.  He asked if he could consider scheduling the public hearing for June 14th.   

4) Review BOE Proposal for Hillcrest and Wallisch Properties � Administrator Kunze advised 
that staff is still working on the cost estimates for Hillcrest.  Research has been done on 
the environmental constraints associated with the Wallisch property.  He directed the 
Council to the color maps in their packets which address the environmental concerns that 
may prohibit development of the property.  The blue map shows stream and wetlands 
constraints.  Almost the entire parcel is encumbered by wetlands.  The brown map 
indicates a possible wood turtle habitat which covers over 100% of the property.  Because 
of these constraints, there is no possibility of new construction and the Administrator has 
not been able to determine any possible uses for the site.  Councilman Warden suggested 
giving the property to the Audubon Society who could use it as a tourist attraction.  That 
would relieve us from maintenance and restoration responsibilities.  With regard to 
Hillcrest, the staff is still looking at the numbers and may not have all the specifics at hand 
for the proposed meeting on June 10th.  The Council instructed the Administrator to cancel 
the June 10th meeting, continue working on the numbers, obtain data on the possibility of 
razing the building and rebuilding on that site, and to look at other potential municipal-
owned sites in town where a community center could be built.   

5) House Numbers � The Township Attorney, Fred Semrau, advised that the current 
Township code does not compel enforcement.  He has reviewed ordinances in several 
towns where there is a three-month period for people to come into compliance after the 
adoption of the ordinance.  Subsequently, there is a fine schedule and enforcement is 
across the board.  He cautioned the Council that there are enforcement issues because 
there is no discretion in enforcement.  Either the police department or zoning official would 
enforce the provisions of the ordinance and would incur an expense for that as well as with 
tracking the data.  Councilman Scangarello noted that the Council has discussed the 
potential for certificates of habitability for house re-sales.  He asked if enforcement of 
house numbers could be tied to that function as it is now tied to certificate of occupancy 
issuance.  Mr. Semrau advised that it is easier to enforce along those lines.   

6) Presbyterian Church Retaining Wall� Administrator Kunze advised that this wall is falling 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: May 10, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 7 of 10 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

down and the County plans to fix it because records indicate that the County owns the wall.  
The Historic Preservation Committee expressed concerns about compliance with their 
goals and the Township would like the wall reconstructed in such a way to allow for 
sidewalks.  The Township Engineer, Planner and a member from the HPC attended a 
meeting with the County yesterday to discuss this matter.  The County would like to build a 
new wall in front of the existing wall rather than remove it.  Sidewalks are not compatible 
with that plan.  Noting that there are graves that are located against this wall, Council 
President Gervens suggested that we should work with the County to determine if the road 
can be reconfigured to accommodate the sidewalk.  Mayor DiDonato stated that the 
planned realignment is simply a re-striping.  However, he has also heard that the County 
may be amenable to returning some of the Corridor Enhancement Money to the 
municipality.  If this is so, this may be the perfect project for such funds.  The Council 
instructed the Administrator to look into this and report back.  Councilman Scangarello 
stated that time is of the essence as the County plans to begin work on this project within 
two weeks. 

7) Speed Reduction on Doremus Road � Administrator Kunze stated that this subject was 
brought to light when a resident, who has a deaf child, asked for assistance.  Investigation 
of the matter led our police department to conduct a speed county survey and 
subsequently recommended that the speed be reduced from 50 mph to 35 mph.  Mr. 
Semrau advised that, because this road intersects with a State road, there are two options 
available to us.  We can send the State our data and ask for their approval.  Or, we can 
adopt an ordinance and send it to the state for their review.  The data indicates that drivers 
on that road tend to proceed at speeds below the posted speed limits.  The Council 
instructed the Attorney to prepare the ordinance for their consideration. 

8) Amend Lakes Committee Resolution � Councilman Weisbecker stated that he would like to 
amend the Lakes Committee Resolution to add Pinecrest Lake to the list and he would 
also like to see a member of the planning board appointed to this committee.  Mr. Semrau 
stated that he would like to research the feasibility of assigning a planning board member 
as such an appointment may cause a conflict with applications before the Board.   

9) Municipal Budget � Administrator Kunze asked the Council to reconsider introducing the 
budget with proposed personnel cuts without first speaking with the affected employees.  
He noted that introduction is procedural and it does not affect the Council�s ability to 
continue amending the budget as time progresses.  Councilman Warden stated that the 
original budget reflects a $200 increase.  0% is out of the question; $50 is not likely.  He 
reminded that the Council had agreed to a $100 increase and stated that he will not vote 
for the budget on introduction unless it reflects the increase the Council had agreed to.  If 
layoffs are necessary to accomplish this, then so be it.  He recalled that the Council left the 
last meeting agreeing to a $100 increase knowing that such a budget would require layoffs.  
Administrator Kunze advised that to introduce a budget that does not reflect the layoffs 
would mean a budget is introduced at a $130 increase, it will allow for discussion of the 
proposed layoffs with the affected employees, and the Council can amend the budget after 
that discussion to return to the $100 increase agreed upon.  He expressed concern that the 
Council has not had an opportunity to discuss the impact of the proposed layoffs.  
Councilman Weisbecker stated that, in his opinion, the Council perceived the scenarios as 
recommendations from the Administrator.  Mayor DiDonato clarified that the Council 
instructed the Administrator to prepare the scenarios; they never asked the Administrator 
for his recommendations.  He drafted the scenarios to provide the Council with the 
information they had requested.  That cannot be construed as a recommendation and he 
further noted that the Administrator has no authority to make such a recommendation 
without the Council�s direction.  If we adopt at a $130 increase, without the personnel cuts, 
then it is up to the Council to specify the specific positions that will be laid off.  Councilman 
Warden asked the Township Attorney if we can introduce the budget at a $100 increase-
using surplus to get to that amount and knowing that the funds will not eventually be taken 
from surplus because we will have the discussion of personnel.  Mr. Semrau answered in 
the affirmative.  Councilman Smolinski asked the Administrator to quantify the costs of the 
proposed layoffs.  Councilman Nolan reiterated that the budget will be introduced with all 
the cuts in scenarios 1, 2, and 3, excluding personnel cuts and transportation, and utilizing 
surplus to bring us to a $100 increase to the average property owner.  He stated that he 
accepts responsibility for those cuts.   

10) Transportation Grants � Administrator Kunze advised that these are annual applications to 
support the transportation program in town.  There is one new element and that is an Inter-
City grant.  We are making application to determine if we are eligible.  The application is 
due by May 26th and he asked the Council for consensus to have the resolutions on the 
agenda for May 24th.  The Council agreed.     

11) Building Department Fee Schedule � Administrator Kunze advised that we obtain a 
recommendation from the construction official every year.  He directed the Council to their 
packets and the proposed revisions therein.  The proposed revisions include a new section 
on fees for retaining walls because that now requires a permit.  The Council gave 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: May 10, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 8 of 10 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

consensus to have the amended ordinance introduced on May 24th. 
 
Mayor's Report 
 
None. 
 
Township Administrator's Report 
 
Administrator Kunze stated that the contractor will begin work on the Maple road boardwalk next 
week.  The weed harvesting issues have been resolved.  He advised that the cablevision 
operator simply did not show last week and he has asked cablevision to obtain a copy of the 
other tape so that they can air the meeting at various times during the week.  The property owner 
on Greenwood Lake Turnpike who had drainage problems has remedied the situation to the 
County�s satisfaction.  He advised that the contractor began work on the Johner roof and they 
found that there is no parapet on one half of the roof.  This is a significant deficiency that could 
not be detected in the initial review of the job and required a change order in the amount of 
$5,100.  He asked for Council consent to authorize the repair and stated that the change order 
will be presented to the Council at the May 24th meeting. 
 
Councilman Weisbecker moved to authorize the repair to the Johner roof and have the change 
order in the amount of $5,100 placed on the Regular Meeting Agenda for May 24, 2006. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Weisbecker                          Seconded:  Nolan 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Township Council Reports 
 
Councilman Weisbecker stated that he, Councilmen Smolinski and Nolan, and Administrator 
Kunze went to Trenton to meet with Assemblyman Pennacchio and Senators Martin and Smith to 
discuss the water surcharge.  He said that the meeting was very disheartening and disappointing 
and that West Milford got shortchanged because we opposed the bill from its inception.  He 
stated that the Senators have taken home rule away from West Milford which is an insult.  He 
asked the Administrator if we have received an extension for our grant for bear cans.  He stated 
that he would like to reestablish the charter for the Economic Development Committee (EDC) and 
asked the Administrator to place discussion of this topic on a future agenda.  He asked if the 
Kemp Building is in foreclosure and if the taxes are up to date.  He stated that he would like the 
Council to discuss the fence ordinance.  Administrator Kunze advised that the planning board has 
been directed to do so and that the Township Planner is looking into this matter.  Councilman 
Weisbecker stated that he spoke with Mr. Edmunds from the County who says that it is okay to 
have poles on County roads to string signs.  He asked the Administrator to call Mr. Edmunds in 
this regard. 
 
Councilman Smolinski thanked Assemblyman Pennacchio and Senators Martin and Smith for the 
meeting in Trenton.  He stated, however, that the discussion fell on deaf ears.  He urged the 
Council and residents not to give up on this idea and stated that he would like to personally 
deliver the resolutions and petitions to the Governor�s office.  He offered to drive anyone who is 
willing to accompany him.   
 
Councilman Nolan stated that, at the Trenton meeting, Senator Smith (who chairs the committee) 
stated that the proposed bill will fund infrastructure.  Senator Martin said he will rewrite the bill to 
include tax relief and Senator Smith said he would support that.  However, they both expressed 
that the bill will not go anywhere without Republican support.  He thanked all the sponsors of the 
upcoming tennis tournament for the museum and offered to give the reporters a list of those 
sponsors.  He stated that he is concerned that the fire departments have not submitted their 2004 
financial statements as yet.  He noted that, thus far, statements have only been received from the 
first aid squad and the animal shelter.  He also noted that, as yet, we do not have a copy of the 
2004 library audit.  He asked the Administrator to resolve this and establish a policy by which all 
the financial statements are received.  He stated that the NJLM is proposing a resolution to 
change arbitration laws and asked that this be placed on an agenda for discussion.  He noted that 
�Democat� is still on the MUA and Wanaque Sewerage Authority.  
 
Councilman Warden stated that the weed harvesting is underway.  John Hurle is taking 8 to 9 
loads of weeds out of the lake each day.  He has cut a swath from the southern end of the lake to 
the island.   
 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: May 10, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 9 of 10 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Councilman Scangarello asked the Administrator if the Township has received a check from 
Congressman Garrett�s office for $250,000.  Administrator Kunze will check with the finance 
department.  Councilman Scangarello stated that Congressman Garrett is working on obtaining a 
$100,000 grant to conduct a study of the weeds in Greenwood Lake.  He reminded the Council 
that Kathleen Caren from the Passaic County Open Space Committee and Freeholder Duffy 
came before the Council in February.  At that time they told the Council that it may be possible to 
transfer funds to Eagle Ridge and that this could be set in motion by writing a letter to Ms. Caren.  
He advised that, subsequent to that meeting, Mayor DiDonato sent the requested letter to Ms. 
Caren but that the Freeholders never received a copy.  The Freeholders have requested that the 
Council state their request in the form of a resolution and send it to them.  He asked that this be 
placed as an action item on the agenda for the next meeting noting that time is of the essence. 
 
Township Attorney 
 
Mr. Semrau reported the County tax board hearings were held on Monday and there were few 
Highlands-related appeals presented.  The Assessor is awaiting the results from the Board.  He 
advised that last years efforts to remove glass from Farrell Fields by filtering and screening did 
not work.  It has been suggested that the most effective solution is to remove 4� of soil, replace 
that soil, grade it, and reseed.  We did not pay for the initial topsoil and we may incur additional 
costs for the needed topsoil.  He noted that we are holding $15,000 in escrow.  The council had 
no concerns and instructed Mr. Semrau to proceed.  Mr. Semrau noted that an Executive Session 
has been scheduled tonight to discuss our obligations to the Wanaque Valley Sewerage 
Authority.  He is still looking into the Highlands Act.  He also noted that we are not precluded from 
applying for open space grants for projects that have already received an award such as Eagle 
Ridge.   
 
Township Clerk's Report 
 
None.   
 
Executive Session 
 

Agenda No. XI 1 
 

~ Resolution 2006-184 ~ 
 

MOTION FOR EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Township Council of the Township of West Milford on the 10th day 
of May, 2006, that: 
 

1. Prior to the conclusion of this Workshop Meeting, the Township Council shall meet in 
Executive Session, from which the public shall be excluded, to discuss matters as 
permitted pursuant to N.J.S.A. 10:4-12, sub-section (s): 

(  )     b.  (1)   Confidential or excluded matters, by express provision of Federal law or State 
statute or rule of court. 

(  )     b.  (2)   A matter in which the release of information would impair a right to receive funds 
from the Government of the United States. 

(  )     b.  (3)  Material the disclosure of which constitutes an unwarranted invasion of individual 
privacy. 

(  )     b.  (4)   A collective bargaining agreement including negotiations. 
(  )     b.  (5)   Purchase, lease or acquisition of real property, setting of banking rates or 

investment of public funds, where it could adversely affect the public interest if 
disclosed. 

(  )     b.  (6) Tactics and techniques utilized in protecting the safety and property of the public, if 
disclosure could impair such protection.  Investigation of violations of the law. 

(X)     b. (7)   Pending or anticipated litigation or contract negotiations other than in subsection   
b. (4) herein or matters falling within the attorney-client privilege. 

 Wanaque Valley Sewerage Authority Contractual Obligations 
(  )     b. (8)   Personnel matters. 
(  )     b.  (9)   Deliberations after a public hearing that may result in penalties. 
 

2. The time when the matter(s) discussed pursuant to Paragraph 1 hereof can be disclosed 
to the public is as soon as practicable after final resolution of the aforesaid matter(s). 

 
Adopted:  May 10, 2006 
 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Workshop 
Date of Meeting: May 10, 2006 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 10 of 10 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Nolan    Seconded:  Scangarello 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
The Council went into executive session at 11:10 p.m. 
 
Present:  Councilmembers Philip Weisbecker, Joseph Smolinski, William Gervens,  

Robert Nolan, James Warden, Carmelo Scangarello. 
Mayor Joseph DiDonato. 

 
Absent:  None. 
 
Also Present:   Township Administrator Richard Kunze, Township Clerk Antoinette Battaglia,  

Township Attorney Frederick Semrau, 
 
Items for discussion at Executive Session were as follows: 
 

Wanaque Valley Sewerage Authority Contractual Obligations 
 
Executive Session adjourned at 11:10 p.m. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Weisbecker                           Seconded:  Gervens 
Voted Aye:   Unanimous Voice Vote. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Adjournment 
 
There being no further business to come before the Council, the Township Council adjourned the 
meeting at 11:20 P.M. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Weisbecker                           Seconded:  Scangarello 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Gervens, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Approved:  June 14, 2006 

 
_________________________________ 

JOSEPH DiDONATO, MAYOR, PRESIDING OFFICER 
 
 

_________________________________ 
ANTOINETTE BATTAGLIA, TOWNSHIP CLERK 


